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Notice is hereby given that Unnamed Class Members James Juranek, Audrey)
Juranek, and Richard P. Le Blanc hereby appeal to the United States Court of
Appeals for the Ninth Circuit from this Court’s Final Order and Judgment
Approving Settlement filed on September 10, 200'7; Opinion and Order filed
September 10, 200;7 and Order Granting Class Counsel Attorneys’ Fees and
Reimbursement of Expenses filed on September 10, 2007.

DATE: October 16, 2007 Respectfully submitted,

STEELE STURM, PLLC

i

Il ﬂ

Charles A\ Stuph—"

ROSENGARTEN & LEVEN, LLP
Ronald D. Rosengarten (SBN 128859)
23801 Calabasas Road, Suite 1015
Calabasas, California 91302

(818) 225-5070

(818) 225-5077 fax

Attorneys for Objectors
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I am employed in the County of Harris, State of Texas. Iam over the age of
18 and not a party to the within action. My business address is 1000 Louisiana St.,
Suite 3780, Houston, Texas 77002.

On October 16, 2007, I served the foregoing instrument as described as
UNNAMED CLASS MEMBERS JAMES JURANEK, AUDREY JURANEK, AND
RICHARD P. LE BLANC’S AMENDED NOTICE OF APPEAL on the interested
parties in this action by electronic mail when email addresses are available, or by,
placing true copies thereof enclosed in sealed envelopes for delivery by first-class,
United States mail as follows:

SEE ATTACHED SERVICE LIST

I declare that I am employed in the office of Steele Sturm, PLLC and am a
member of the State Bar of Texas.

Executed on October 16, 2007, at Houston, Harris County, Texas.

LL/

Chaﬂést. Shurm/
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PROOF OF SERVICE

1 am employed in the County of Harris, State of Texas. 1am over the age of
18 and not a party to the within action. My business address is 1000 Louisiana St.,
Suite 3780, Houston, Texas 77002.

On October 9, 2007, 1 served the foregoing instrument as described as
UNNAMED CLASS MEMBERS JAMES JURANEK, AUDREY JURANEK, ANy
RICHARD P. LE BLANC'S REPLY TO SETTLING PLAINTIFFS’ OPPOSITION
TO MOTION FOR ADDITIONAL FINDINGS OF FACT UNDER FRCP 52(b) ony
the interested parties in this action by electronic mail when email addresses arg
available, or by placing true copies thereof enclosed in sealed envelopes fon
delivery by first-class, United States mail as follows:

SEE ATTACHED SERVICE LIST

I declare that | am employed in the office of Steele Sturm, PLLC and am a

member of the State Bar of Texas.

Executed on October 9, 2007, at Houston, HM/l@ounty, Texas.

Charles A. %@E
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I Introduction

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

CASE NO. CV05-3222 R (MCx)

OPINION AND ORDER

This is & federal antitrust class action brought by Plaintiffs Ryan Rodriguez (“Rodriguez”),

and Lorraine Rimson (“Rimson”) (represented by Class Counse] Finkelstein Thompson LLP and
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Reena B. Frailich (“Frailich™, Jennifer Brazeal (“Brazeal”), Loredana Nesci (“Nesci”), and Lisa Gintz

(“Gintz”) (represented by Class Counsel McGuireWoods LLP) and Plaintiffs Kari Brewer (“Brewer”)

Zwerling, Schachter & Zwerling, LLP, respectively) agamst Defendants West Publishing Corporation
(doing business as BAR/BRI) (“West”) (represented by Liner Yankelevitz Sunshine & Regenstreif, LLP

and Shearman & Sterling, LLP) and Kaplan, Inc. (“Kaplan”) (represented by Jones Day s




Case 2:05-cv-03222-R-Mc  Document 461  Filed 10/17/2007 Page 8 of 79

10
1
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
23
26
27
28

* Cask 2:05-cv-03222-R-Mc  Document 432 Filed 09/10/2007  Page 2 of 37

-

Tolles & Olsen, LLP). Plaintiffs sue on behalf of themselves and more than 300,000 class members
=,

nationwide who took a full-service bar review course from BAR/BRI between August 1, 1997 and July '

31,2006 (“the Class™ or “Class Members”). The operative complaint alleges that: (1) BAR/BRI (now
owned by Defendant West) iliegally acquired the assets of its direct competitor West Barin wolatnon of
Section 7 of the Clayton Act; (2) Defendant West unlawfully conspired with Defendant Kaplan to
restrain trade in the full-service bar review course market in violation of Section 1 of the Sl;erman Act;
and (3) Defendant West wrongfully monopolized the full-service bar review course market 1n violahion
of Section 2 of the Sherman Act

II.  Procedural History

After an extensive pre-filing factual investigation, Plaintiffs Rodriguez and Frailich (“Initi.al
Plaintiffs”) filed the first complaint against Defendants in this Action in April 2005 alleging claims for
violation of fedetal antitrust laws (“Initial Complaint”) The Initial Plaintiffs later filed a First Amended
Complaint (“FAC”), in which Plaintiffs Brazeal, Nesct, and Gintz joined. Plaintiffs Brewer and Rimson
filed a related action against Defendants in this Court entitled, Brewer v West Publishing Corp , Case
No. CV-05-06211. The Court consolidated the two actions after motion practice on October 17,'2005.

The FAC, the operative complaint in this action, alleges claims for violation of Sections 1 and 2
of the Sherman Act, and Section 7 of the Clayton Act. The FAC seeks monetary damages and
injunctive relief. Defendants answered the FAC in July 2006, raising numerous defenses, inclljding
statute of limitations, laches, proximate cause, standing, and bona fide bustiess competition.

The action entered the discovery phase in August 2005. Plaintiffs took substantial factual and
expert discovery relating ;to liability, damages, and class cetification issues. Plaintiffs reviewed and
analyzed over 400,000 pages of documents produced by Defendants and third parties, conducted one
deposition pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 30(b)(6), and deposed fourteen fact witnesses.
Defendants deposed the seven Plaintiffs, as well as three non-party witnesses. The parties also
conducted extensive expert discovery, including eight depositions of five different expert witnesses.
Plaintiffs and Defendants had a series of discovery disputes. These discovery disputes resulted ina
number of motions to compel before this Court and Special Discovery Master John Francis Carroll.

On March 13, 2006, Plaintiffs filed their Motion for Class Certification. Defendants raised many

1
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challenges, including the relevant market definition, antitrust impact, and the existence of a formulaic ;",; :

g

approach to damages. On May 15, 2006, after comprehensive briefing, including the submission oi:; f
detailed expert declarations and exhibits as well as ex’Eended oral argument, the Court certified a "i; F
natronal class defined as: “All persons who purchased a bar review course from BAR/BRI in the United
States from 1997 to the present.” The Court appointed the seven named plaintiffs as class
representatives (“Class Representatives”)

On June 29, 2006, after reviewing submissions from Plaintiffs and Defendants concerming the
proposed plan of notice to the Class, the Court issued an Order Re: Class Notice (“Class Notice Order”)
which approved the proposed form of notice, and provided for dissemination by: (a) first-class mail; (b)
in national publications; and (c) over the internet. In accordance with the Class Notice Order, the Class
Action Notice (“Notice”) was disseminated in July 2006. The Notice provided Class Members the
opportunity to request exclusion from the Class.

Defendants filed a petition with the Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit for leave to file an
appeal regarding the Class Certification Order. Plaintiffs filed an extensive opposition. The Ninth
Circuit denied Defendants’ petition on August 11, 2006.

On July 17, 2006, Kaplan filed a motion for summary judgment seeking to dismiss Count 1 of
the FAC (the only count aganst Kaplan). Plaintiffs opposed the Motion and subsequently scught leave
to file two supplemental opposition briefs to the Motion, which the Court granted. The Court denied
Kaplan’s Motion for Summary Judgment on September 18, 2006. Trial was set for February 13, 2007,

After completion of discovery, and with the February trial date approaching, the counsel for
Plaintiffs and Defendants, together with Rodriguez, Nesci, and Gintz, engaged in a formal mediation in
New York City on November 29, 2006. The Honorable Daniel Weinstein (Ret ) of JAMS, who has
substantial experience in resolving antitrust and class action cases, served as mediator. Plaintiffs were
represented by Class Counse! and Defendants were represented by their litigation counsel and their in-
house counsel. The record reflects that at all times the negotiations were at arm’s-length and hard
fought. The parties were unable to reach a resolution on November 29, 2006.

Negotiations continued for the next several weeks with the assistance of the mediator. During

this time, the parties continued to prosecute discovery disputes and prepare for tral. After several

.
[ (]
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weeks of negotiations, an agreement was reached on all settlement terms. The Settlement Agreement

was executed on February 2, 2007. Plaintiffs Rodnguez, Nesci, and Gintz (“the Obyecting Pl amtlffs’-’)

)-—\q

refused to authorize the execution of the Settlement Agreement on their behalf. :

Y

On March 19, 2007, over the objections of the Objecting Plaintiffs, the Court entered an Orl&ér
Granting Plamtiffs’ Motion for Preliminary Approval of Class Action Settlement and Directing
Dissemination of Notice to Class (“Preliminary Approval Order”) that, among other things: (a) found
that the Settlement Agreement was negotiated in good faith, under the supervision of a well-respected
mediator, was the result of extensive arm’s length negotiations, was concluded after Class Counsel
conducted broad discovery, and was sufficiently fair, reasonable, and adequate to warrant sending
notice of the Settlement to Class Members and holding a full hearing on the Settlement; {b) modified
the definition of the previously certified clas to: “All Persons who purchased a bar review course from
BAR/BRI in the United States from August 1, 1997 through and including July 31, 2006"; (c) found
that the proposed forms and methods of notice met the requirements of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, the United States Constitution, the Rules of the Court and all other apphcabl‘e law, (d)
appointed a claims administrator; (¢) established procedures for Class Members to object to the
Settlement; and (f) established the date for the Final Approval Hearing.

On June 18, 2007 and July 9, 2007, the Court conducted hearings on the faimess,
reasonableness, and adequacy of the Seftlement. Twelve groups of Objectors were represented at the
first Final Approval Hearing (through counset). Two of the three Objecting Plamtiffs - Nesci and
Rodriguez - were also present. At the Final Approval Hearing on July 9, 2007, after hearing argument
from the parties, Objectors and/or their counsel, and Objecting Plainuffs Nesci and Rodriguez, the
Court; (1) granted Plawntiffs’ Motion for an Order Granting Approval of the Class Action Settlement;
(2) denied Plaintiffs’ Motion for Incentive Awards to Class Representatives; and (3) granted Class
Counsel's Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Reimbursement of Expenses. This Opinion and Order
follows.

1. The Incentive Agreement and the Requests for Incentive Awards
As part of their Retainer Agreement, the five Class Representatives represented by Class

Counsel Van Etten Suzumoto & Becket LLP (the predecessor to Class Counsel McGuireWoods LLP)

£
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entered into an “Incentive Agreement” with their counsel.' Each of the five Class Representatives

Fhad 5.

represented by McGuireWoods signed the Incentive Agreement prior to entering the lawsuit. Undcir_;the :

R S T

section entitled “Incentive/Compensation to Clients” the contingency fee-type contract obligates C}":iss »
-t 7

Counsel to seek payment for each of the Class Representatives in an amount that adjusts based on the
end settiement or hitigated victory amount. If the settlement or litigated victory was greater than or equal
to $500,000, Class Counsel would seek 2 $10,000 award per Class Representative. For $1.5 milhon or
more, Class Counsel would seek a $25,000 award, For §5 million or more, Class Counsel would seek
$50,000 and for $10 million or more, Class Counsel would seek $75,000. The five Class
Representatives who signed the Incentive Agreement all aver that they were never promised that they
would receive an incentive award and that any award was contmgent on court approval Such a promise
is not necessary to securing an award that is quickly becoming the grist of the class action money mill.

The Class was never advised of the Incentive Agreement, The Court was made aware of the
Tncentive Agreement only after the Preliminary Approval Hearing, when the incentive payment requests
were made. Apparently, however, Defendants obtained a copy of the Incentive Agreement in Apnl
2006.

The case settled for $49,000,000. Thus, per the Incentive Agreement, McGuireWoods is

contractually obligated to seek $75,000 for each Class Representative as an incentive payment

' The section entitled “Incentive/Compensation to Clients” states in full: “In consideration for the
services Clients will be providing, and as an incentive to Clients for their participation as Class
representatives here and to compensate them for all the burdens accruing therefrom, VSB agrees to seek
payment for each Chent m the following amounts: 1. The sum of $10,000 if the West case ends by
seftlement or litigated victory with the payment to the Class a sum greater than or equal to five hundred
thousand dollars ($500,000) n cash or anything of comparable value; 2. In supplement to the sum
identified in paragraph 1 directly above, an additional $15,000 (for a sum total of $25,000) will be paid
to each client if the West case ends by settlement or hitigated victory with the payment to the Class a sum
greater than or equal to one mullion five hundred thousand dollars ($1,500,000) in cash or anything of
comparable value; 3. In supplement to the sum identified in paragraph 2 directly above, an additional
$25,000 (for a sum total of $50,000) will be paid to each client if the West case ends by settlement or
litigated victory with the payment to the Class a sum greater than or equal to five million dollars
($5,000,000) in cash or anything of comparable value; and 4. In supplement to the sum identified 1
paragraph 3 directly above, an additional $25,000 (for a sum total of $75,000) will be paid to each client
if the West case ends by settlement or litigated victory with the payment to the Class a sum greater than
or equal to ten million ($10,000,000) in cash or anything of comparable value. 3. Such payments listed
above shall be subject to the following conditions: a. Clients have reasonably provided the assistance
sought m paragraphs 1-3 under section “Services to be Rendered by Clients;” and b. any required Court
approval is first obtained, which VSB agrees to seck, as need be, at the pertinent time ” (June 11, 2007
Kanazawa Decl. Ex. 1 at 2-3.) .
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However, in the Settlement Agreement entered into on February 2, 2007, Defendants would only agree .
£,
not to 0ppose Tequests for incentive awards less than or equal to $25,000 for each Class Representétwe il

TE

=
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o e SVE

After the Settlement was reached, McGuireWoods communicated with the five Class Representatwes 1t >
represents about the incentive awards, Two of the five (Plaintiffs Brazeal and Frailich) agreed that'’
McGuireWoods would seek only $25,000 on their behalf, The three Objecting Plaintiffs refused to

agree to the lower amount and, as a result, MeGuireWoods seeks $75,000 each for Plantiffs Rodriguez,
Nesci, and Gintz pursuant to the terms of the Incentive Agreement. Class Counsel secks these awards
on behalf of the Class Representatives despite the minimal assistance the Class Representatives
contributed to the prosecution of the litigation and the cc;nﬂict of interests the contingency fee-type
agreement created between the Class Representatives and the Class Members.

The two other named plaintiffs, Plaintiffs Brewer and Runson, who were represented by Class
Counse! Finkelstein Thoripson LLP and Zwerling, Schachter & Zwerling, LLP, respectively, made no
ex-ante incentive award agreement with their clients. Plaintiffs Brewer and Rimson had no agreement
regarding any amount that would be requested as an incentive awerd on their behalf. Their counsel
maintain that they independently determined that $25,000 was an appropriate incentive award amount
for each of their Class Representatives
IV.  Jurisdiction

This Court has jurisdiction over Class Members’ claims because Plaintiffs have alleged
violations of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § I, and the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 18.28 U.S.C. 1331.

This Court can also exercise personal jurisdiction over all absentee Class Members because
Class Members received proper notice of the action. The Notice informed potential Class Members of
the pendency of this Action and provided them with the opportunity to exclude themselves from the
Class. The Notice also informed Class Members of their opportunity to object to the Settlement and to
be heard at the Fin‘al Approval Hearing, As discussed further below, such notice sausfies the due
process requirements of the Fifth Ame;ndment. Brown v Ticor Title Inc., 982 F2d 386, 392 (9th Cir.
1992).
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V. Setttement Terms
o,
A.  The Settlement Fund ty

[
=1

Consistent with the terms of the Settiement Agreement, Defendants paid forty-nine milhion Li

- §

LN
P

dollars ($49,000,000) into an interest-bearing account for the benefit of the Class, which amount, plus
interest (“Gross Settlement Fund”), has or will be used to pay for the costs of natice, settlement
administration, taxes and attorneys’ fees and expenses pursvant to the orders of this Court After such
payments from the Gross Settlement Fund, the balance will be distributed to the Class (“Net Settlement
Fund") pursuant to the Plan of Allocation.

B.  Plan of Allocation

Undet the terms of the Plan of Allocation, the Net Seftlement Fund will be distributed pro rata
based on the amount each Class Member who submits a timely and valid Claim Form (“Authorized .
Claimant”) paid BAR/BRI for the bar review course in relation to the amounts paid by all other
Authorized Claimants. For example, if the amount paid for a bar review course by an Authorized
Claimant equals 1/100,000 of the aggregate of such amounts paid by all other Authorized Claimants,
then the Authonized Claimant will recetve 1/100,000 of the Net Settiement Fund. The maximum
amount of payment that any Authonized Claimant shall be entitled to receive from the Net Settiement
Fund, however, shall not exceed thirty-percent (30%) of the amount the Authorized Claimant paid for
the bar review coutse (“Maximum Payment”).

Class Members also have the option of donating their portion of the Net Settlement Fund to the
National Legal Aid and Defender Association (“NLADA"), for the purpose of providing training
opportunities for young lawyers nationwide. NLADA, founded in 1 911, is the oldest and largest
national, nonprofit membership organization devoted to advocating equal access to justice for all.

Defendants are not entitled to a reversion of any money remaining in the Net Settlement Fund
after distribution of the Maximum Payments to all Authorized Claimants If any funds remain in the Net
Setilement Fund after distributing the Maximum Payments to all Authorized Claimants, Class Counsel
will make an application to the Court for a cy pres distribution of the residual amount of the Net

Settlement Fund.
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C.  Provisions to Promote Competition in the Bar Review Market '

P

For purposes of Settlement, BAR/BRI and Kaplan agreed to terminate the marketing agreerii_'ght

that Plaintiffs allege is unlawful and has allowed BAR/BRI to maintain a monopoly and Defendant;éﬁto 1 {

divide the market. Further, for a period of five years following the Effective Date, BAR/BRI will e
include the following statement on the forms it uses to enroll law students into its Teview courses:

NOTE: By signing this Enroliment Form and making an initial payment to BAR/BRI,

you are not committing yourself to taking the BAR/BRI Bar Review course or making

full payment to BAR/BRI for such course.

Finally, in the Setflement Agreement, BAR/BRI expressly states “that it is committed to
accurate advertising as required by the Lanham Act, the Federal Trade Commission Act and similar
laws, regulations and rules ”

D.  Release

The Settlement Order provides that all Class Members (including any of their past, present or
future officers, directors, agents, employees, legal representatives, trustees, parents, associates,
affiliates, licensees, subsidiaries, partners, heirs, executors, administrators, purchasers, predecessors,
successors, and assigas), with the exception of those who exercised their right to opt out (identified in
Exhibit A to the Settlement Order), whether or not he, she, or it objects to the Settlement and whether
or not he, she, or it makes a claim upon or participates in the Settlement Fund, whether directly,
representatively, derivatively or in any other capacity, ever had, now has or hereafter can, shall or may
have concerning or relating to any conduct alteged in the FAC in this Action, and including without
limitation all claims that have been asserted or could have been asserted in any litigation against the
Released Parties or any of them for any conduct alleged in the FAC m this Action (collectively with all
claims referenced in the next paragraph, the “Released Claims”), are permanently enjoined from filing,
commencing, prosecuting, intervening in, participating 1n (as class members or otherwise), or receiving
any benefits or other relief from, any other lawsuit, arbitration, or other proceeding against any or all
Released Parties, or order i any jurisdiction entered against any or all Released Parties that is based
upon, arises out of, or relates to any Released Claims.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Released Claims shall not include claims asserted against the
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